
 

 
Page | 1  Phone No. (415) 899-8900 
 novato.org Fax No. (415) 899-8213 
   

 

  

 
PLANNING COMMISSION  

MEETING MINUTES 
 

Via Zoom Teleconference 
 

Monday, August 9, 2021 – 7:00pm 
 

 

A. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL 
The Planning Commission meeting began at 7:01pm. 
 
Commission Present:  Chair Rachel Farac, Vice Chair Peter Tiernan (arrived late), 
Commissioner Justin Derby, Commissioner Ronald Gerber, Commissioner Curtis Havel,  
and Commissioner Lia Heath 
 
Commission Absent:  Commissioner Dawson and Vice Chair Tiernan (arrived late) 
 
Staff Present:  Planning Manager Steve Marshall, Planner II Kaitlin Zitelli, Senior Planner Brett 
Walker, and Assistant City Attorney Ryan Reed. 
 

B. APPROVAL OF FINAL AGENDA 
  
 COMMISSION ACTION:  Upon motion by Commissioner Heath and seconded by 

Commissioner Gerber, the Planning Commission voted 5-0-0-2 via roll call to approve 
the final agenda. 

  
 AYES:   Commissioners Derby, Gerber, Havel, Heath, and Farac 
 NOES:   None 
 ABSTAIN: None 
 ABSENT:  Commissioner Dawson and Tiernan 
 Motion carried. 
  
C. PUBLIC COMMENT  

There is a three-minute time limit to speak although the Chair may shorten the time based on the 
number of speakers or other factors. A speaker may not yield his or her time to another speaker. 
 
Michelle Derviss – Commented on establishing a construction management plan requirement for 
projects in the City, referencing Mill Valley as an example. Suggested on-site sign posting be required 
to identify construction manager.  

 
 
 

https://novato.org/


 
Page | 2  Phone No. (415) 899-8900 
 novato.org Fax No. (415) 899-8213 

 

D. CONSENT ITEM 
NONE  

E. UNFINISHED AND OTHER BUSINESS   
 NONE 

 
F. PUBLIC HEARING 

 
F.1. NORTH BAY CHILDREN’S CENTER 
 P2019-032; USE PERMIT 
 P2014-095; DESIGN REVIEW 
 CEQA CATEGORICALLY EXEMPT – SECTION 15302 
 APN 157-980-03; 932 C STREET 
 
  Conduct a public hearing and consider adopting a resolution adopting a CEQA exemption, 

approving a use permit, and approving design review for reconstruction of the North Bay 
Children’s Center facilities, a child day care center located at 932 C Street. 

 
Kaitlin Zitelli, Planner II, presented and summarized the staff report for North Bay Children’s Center.   
 
Susan Gilmore, representing North Bay Children’s Center, provided an overview of the Center’s services 
and programs and noted the importance of the project.  
 
Ralph O’Rear, representing North Bay Children’s Center, provide background on the need for the project, 
including noting the deteriorated condition of the Center’s existing buildings and the current use of temporary 
facilities.  
 
The Planning Commission asked clarifying questions regarding the project, including inquiring about whether 
the project had any relationship to Novato Charter School and the status of utility easements.  
 
Commissioner Heath inquired about construction noise and disturbance of the nearby charter school and 
library.    
 
Planner II Zitelli noted the City’s standards requirements addressing construction noise apply to the project.  
 
Chair Farac opened the hearing for public comment.  
 
No persons desired to address the Planning Commission. 
 
Chair Farac closed the public comment period. 
 
Upon a motion by Commissioner Gerber and second by Commissioner Derby the Planning Commission 
voted 5-0-0-2 via roll call to adopt the resolution granting a use permit and approving design review for North 
Bay Children’s Center. Motion carried. 
 
 
 
 
Ayes:  Commissioners Derby, Gerber, Havel, Heath, and Farac 
Noes:  None 
Abstain: None 

https://novato.org/


 
Page | 3  Phone No. (415) 899-8900 
 novato.org Fax No. (415) 899-8213 

 

Absent:  Commissioner Dawson and Tiernan 
  

F.2.   BAHIA RIVER VIEW 
 P2017-023; DESIGN REVIEW 
 P2018-079; SUBDIVISION TENTATIVE MAP 
 P2018-080; REZONING 
 CEQA – INITIAL STUDY/MITIGATED NEGATIVE DECLARATION (IS/MND) 
 APN 143-151-06; SOUTH SIDE OF BAHIA DR. BETWEEN CERRO CREST & TOPAZ DR. 

 
Public hearing and possible action to adopt resolutions recommending the City Council: (1) 
adopt a CEQA IS/MND; (2) approve a zoning map amendment to change the zoning district 
applicable to the project site from Planned District (PD) to Low Density Residential, 10,000 
square-foot minimum lot size (R1-10); (3)  approve a tentative subdivision map creating 5 
parcels; and (4) approve Design Review for the proposed 5-lot subdivision for single family 
residential development. 

 
Brett Walker, Senior Planner, presented the staff report for Bahia River View.    
 
Chair Farac invited commissioners to ask questions of staff. 
 
Commissioner Havel acknowledged receiving copies of letters from Melanie Nasson-Kurgpold and Janice 
Hoffman submitted to the Planning Division after the staff report was published for the project. 
 
Commissioner Gerber asked staff to confirm that 1.5 acres of the site is buildable with the remaining 75% of 
the lot area undevelopable due to the Hillside Ordinance.  
 
Senior Planner Walker confirmed Commissioner Gerber’s understanding and noted developable areas are 
shown on the slope constraints map for the project.  
 
Commissioner Derby asked for background regarding past grading of the site.  
 
Senior Planner Walker stated there are no city records addressing the past grading of the site, but there 
have been some comments from residents indicating the project site was used to provide fill material for 
other parts of the Bahia development.  
 
Commissioner Derby asked if Planned District (PD) zoning had anything to do with the proposed parcel 
situation - if proposed development on a site with an empty PD had to come back to the Planning 
Commission even if consistent with the General Plan. 
 
Senior Planner Walker provided an overview of PD zoning.  
 
Commissioner Derby asked to confirm the unit count without application of the Hillside Ordinance. 
 
Senior Planner Walker indicated the figure was approximately 32 units. 
 
Commissioner Derby asked how many units were assigned to the property by the Housing Element. 
Senior Planner Walker stated 8 units.  
 
Commissioner Derby asked if it is possible to require fewer units. 
 
City Attorney Reed noted State law in includes a no net loss rule. 

https://novato.org/


 
Page | 4  Phone No. (415) 899-8900 
 novato.org Fax No. (415) 899-8213 

 

 
Senior Planner Walker noted an agency must maintain adequate sites to meet its Regional Housing Needs 
Allocation (RHNA). He referenced a finding in the resolution noting the City has sufficient sites to meet 
RHNA. 
 
Commissioner Havel noted the project was found complete a while ago and asked whether new laws apply 
to the project. 
 
Commissioner Derby expanded on Commissioner Havel’s question by asking how the Hillside Ordinance 
squares against the Housing Accountability Act. 
 
City Attorney Reed commented the Housing Accountability Act requires review based on objective 
standards.   
 
Commissioner Derby asked about the status of efforts to implement modifications to the Hillside Ordinance 
based on the new General Plan. 
 
Planning Manager Marshall noted the General Plan contains programs addressing mapping ridgelines and 
modifying standards to provide more flexibility for properties developed before the Hillside Ordinance.   
 
Chair Farac invited the applicant to address the Commission. 
 
Peter Sproel, on behalf of Bahia River View, made a presentation to the Commission.  He noted his client 
would withdraw the request for development standards exception to forego the installation of a sidewalk but 
requested the Planning Commission modify the condition of approval requiring the sidewalk to be 
constructed beyond the project site to Cerro Crest Drive.  He did not see a nexus or proportionality to require 
extending the sidewalk that far. 
 
Patricia Malama, owner/applicant of Bahia River View, provided background on the purchase of the property 
and meetings held with neighbors.  
 
Commissioner Derby asked Ms. Malama when she purchased the property. Ms. Malama stated 2014. 
 
Commissioner Tiernan joined the meeting at 8:18 PM. 
 
Chair Farac opened the public comment period. 
 
Michael Hall – Topaz Drive resident and opposes the project. Stated project site is a ridgeline and homes 
cannot be constructed that break the ridgeline. The project needs a visual animation; noted story poles were 
requested by the Design Review Commission. The depictions of the project don’t fully represent the 
contradictions to the Hillside Ordinance.  The project will tower over our homes. Does not trust the average 
building envelope slopes – how do two lots have envelopes of precisely 25%.  
 
Tim O’Connor – Bahia resident and HOA president.  Opposes the project. The property is not suitable for 
development; new homes will loom over other homes.  State the site is a critical wildlife corridor.  The existing 
pads shouldn’t be considered grading intended to support housing.  Consider feedback from Marin Audubon 
regarding Blue Oak woodland; there are other deficiencies in the review.   
 
Barry Herpe – Topaz Drive resident and opposes the project. Was told the site was not buildable ten years 
ago – cannot develop on anything on slopes over 25%. 

https://novato.org/


 
Page | 5  Phone No. (415) 899-8900 
 novato.org Fax No. (415) 899-8213 

 

 
Melanie Nasson-Kurgpold – Bahia resident and opposes project. Questioned whether the CEQA document 
considered - lighting impacts on the moonlight, heat gain, nature, hydrological cycle. Stated the property 
should not be treated as discarded land.  
 
Alan Lazure – Bahia resident and opposes project. Referenced the letter he submitted on June 29 
addressing concerns about the project.   Noted the Design Review Commission did not support the project 
due to a lack of story poles.  Story poles should be in place to evaluate the massing and height. The project 
is contrary to the Hillside Ordinance.  
 
Chair Farac closed the public comment period. 
 
Commissioner Heath - Acknowledged the neighbors and their frustration with the proposed change. She felt 
the landowner has done their due diligence and the project can be done right.  
 
Commissioner Havel - Noted this site is difficult because it so visible. He observed that Bahia Drive is a large 
road, and the project doesn’t make the roadway less safe.  He felt the CEQA document was adequate and 
noted the site has been disturbed. He asked if there were any CEQA segmenting problems with subsequent 
design review actions and inquired about whether other development standards would be incorporated into 
the project.  
 
Senior Planner Walker - States the project description is adequate in the CEQA document and there is no 
segmenting issue. He noted the development standards of the R1-10 zoning district will apply to future 
homes, as well as other codes sections. Some of the conditions of approval are intended to call attention to 
applicable standards.  
 
City Attorney Reed – Commented that segmenting is normally used to avoid environmental review. The 
CEQA analysis assumes the development of five units. This is a fairly common approach to subdivisions. 
 
Commissioner Gerber – Asked if the project is approved and the developer sells to a builder, would the 
builder have to return for design review approval. 
 
Senior Planner Walker – Confirmed design review would be required for the future homes proposed on each 
lot. 
 
Commissioner Derby - Asked if anyone looked at potential dangers associated with the project and Bahia 
Drive.  
 
Senior Planner Walker noted a traffic study was prepared for the project and considered safety, including 
sight distance. The study recommends restriping Bahia Drive fronting the project to add a two-way turn lane. 
This improvement is required as a condition of approval.  
 
Commissioner Derby – Asked if adding sidewalk pushed into bicycle lane. 
 
Senior Planner Walker – Stated adding the sidewalk does not reduce useable space within the roadway. 
 
Commissioner Derby – Asked if the new homes are going through design review then will story poles be put 
up. 
 
Senior Planner Walker – Confirmed story poles would be put up.  

https://novato.org/


 
Page | 6  Phone No. (415) 899-8900 
 novato.org Fax No. (415) 899-8213 

 

 
Commissioner Tiernan – Noted the photo simulations in the CEQA document list a height of 10- to 18-feet.  
 
Consultant Rosenblatt of Dudek (CEQA Consultant) - Confirmed the heights listed in the CEQA document. 
 
Commissioner Tiernan – Asked why not model the homes at 25-feet. 
 
Senior Planner Walker – Noted the applicant’s architect had already created a massing model, which was 
then used to create the photo simulations.  However, the analysis factors for homes at 25-feet. 
 
Consultant Rosenblatt – Reiterated that the aesthetics of the project were reviewed for 25-foot building 
heights, and that the height difference did not result in a significant impact.   
 
Commissioner Tiernan – Stated the simulations are not accurate to what could happen height wise. 
 
Consultant Rosenblatt – Responded by noting a 10% to 15% increase in height did not make a difference 
to the analysis.  
 
Commissioner Tiernan – State the analysis needs to be the gold standard and indicates the project is 
inconsistent with the Hillside Ordinance. 
 
Planning Manager Marshall – Clarified that a CEQA analysis is not used to determine compliance with the 
Hillside Ordinance. 
 
Commissioner Tiernan – Stated future homes would be silhouetted against the sky – the project does not 
comply with the Hillside Ordinance.  What then? 
 
Commissioner Tiernan – Assume project is approved – is design review off the table if the homes cannot 
comply with the hillside ordinance.  
 
Senior Planner Walker – Described how staff arrived at the determination the project has met the ridgeline 
standard of the Hillside Ordinance.  
 
Commissioner Tiernan – Challenged the idea that only the 150-foot elevation is the ridgeline.  
 
Planning Manager Marshall – Noted if the project is approved by the City Council then a decision will have 
been rendered on the ridgeline matter.  Thereafter, if design review were not approved for the subsequent 
homes then the matter could be appealed to the Planning Commission and then the City Council.  
 
Commissioner Tiernan – Observed that if this project were proposed 50-years ago it would have been built, 
but we’re dealing with new standards.  He considers lot 3, 4, and 5 to look like a ridge. 
 
Chair Farac – Acknowledged the ridgeline is a big issue.  Asked If the homes return for design review does 
the matter come to the Planning Commission.  
 
Senior Planner Walker – Responded that it is not normal for design reviews to come to the Planning 
Commission. 
 

https://novato.org/


 
Page | 7  Phone No. (415) 899-8900 
 novato.org Fax No. (415) 899-8213 

 

Upon a motion by Commissioner Derby and second by Commissioner Havel the Planning 
Commission voted 5-1-0-1 via roll call to adopt the resolution recommending the City Council adopt 
a CEQA Mitigated Negative Declaration for the project. Motion carried. 
 
Ayes:  Commissioners Derby, Gerber, Havel, Heath, and Farac 
Noes:  Commissioner Tiernan 
Abstain: None 
Absent:  Commissioner Dawson  
 
Upon a motion by Commissioner Derby and second by Commissioner Heath the Planning 
Commission voted 4-2-0-1 via roll call to adopt the resolution recommending the City Council rezone 
the project site from PD to R1-10. Motion carried. 
 
Ayes:  Commissioners Derby, Gerber, Havel, and Heath 
Noes:  Commissioners Farac and Tiernan 
Abstain: None 
Absent:  Commissioner Dawson  
 
Commissioner Derby - Requested the record reflect a request to have the City Council address the Public 
Works department regarding the condition of approval requiring construction of a sidewalk beyond the 
frontage of the project site.  
 
Commissioner Havel -  Asked if there is anything preventing the property from being further subdivided. 
 
Planning Manager Marshall – Indicated there was nothing preventing a subsequent request to subdivide 
the property – it is possible State housing laws could be used to compel a subdivision, a circumstance that 
currently exists recognizing the project site carries a residential land use designation.  
 
Commissioner Havel – Asked if anyone had confirmed the average slope figures presented for the parcels. 
 
Senior Planner Walker – Stated the average slope figures were not confirmed. 
 
Upon a motion by Commissioner Derby and second by Commissioner Gerber the Planning 
Commission voted 3-3-0-1 via roll call to adopt the resolution recommending the City Council 
approve the tentative map for the project. Motion failed. 
 
Ayes:  Commissioners Derby, Gerber, and Heath 
Noes:  Commissioners Farac, Havel, and Tiernan 
Abstain: None 
Absent:  Commissioner Dawson  
 
Planning Manager Marshall - Acknowledged the tie vote and noted this indicated a recommendation to 
deny the tentative map.   
 
City Attorney Reed – Requested the Planning Commission advise of the objective standard not met by the 
project and/or the health and safety impact caused by the project that cannot be mitigated.   
 
Commissioner Tiernan – Stated the photo simulations indicate buildings will be silhouetted against the sky. 
 
City Attorney Reed – Inquired if that meant the project did not meet the objective standards of Hillside 
Ordinance Section 19.26.050. 
 
Senior Planner Walker  - Noted item G.3. of Section 19.26.050 addressed lot configurations and inquired if 
lots 3, 4, and 5 were of concern. 

https://novato.org/


 
Page | 8  Phone No. (415) 899-8900 
 novato.org Fax No. (415) 899-8213 

 

 
Commissioner Havel – State the slope issue is a concern and there isn’t enough objective information on 
slope – concerned that future owners are being set-up for failure.  
 
Commissioner Derby – Stated the Commission was there to approve lots, note figure out home designs 
now.  
 
Planning Manager Marshall – Observed the comments made by the commissioners voting against 
tentative map resolution suggested a position that the project was inconsistent with standards G.2., G.3., 
and G.4., of the Hillside Ordinance. 
 
Commissioner Tiernan – Concurred and clarified that lots 3, 4, and 5 are inconsistent with standards G.2., 
and G.3. and lots 1 and 2 are inconsistent with standard G.4. 
 
Planning Manager Marshall - Indicated this position will be laid-out in the final resolution.  
 
Commissioner Tiernan - Inquired about a continuance for further discussion. 
 
Planning Manager Marshall – noted the Housing Accountability Act established a five-meeting limit on 
housing related actions and the Planning Commission’s hearing represented a third meeting; if continued 
the Planning Commission would leave the City Council with one meeting to decide on the project. 
 
No further conversation was had regarding a continuance.  
 
Upon a motion by Commissioner Derby and second by Commissioner Heath the Planning 
Commission voted 4-2-0-1 via roll call to adopt the resolution recommending the City Council 
approve the design review for the proposed subdivision. Motion passed. 
 
 
 
Ayes:  Commissioners Derby, Gerber, Heath, and Tiernan 
Noes:  Commissioners Farac and Havel 
Abstain: None 
Absent:  Commissioner Dawson  
 
 
G. GENERAL BUSINESS   

NONE 
 
H. COMMITTEE AND LIAISON REPORTS  
 
 Planning Manager Marshall noted there are no upcoming projects on the tentative agenda at this 

time. Staff is working on several large projects and one of those recently held a neighborhood 
meeting.  Planning Manager Marshall also noted that Chair Farac would like to discuss having a 
potential retreat for the Planning Commission.  

 
 Chair Farac would like to have a Planning Commission retreat sometime in the fall to discuss its 

interests in upcoming projects and other items.   
 
 Planning Manager Marshall stated that staff will come back with an official agenda to set up the 

retreat/workshop.   
 
I. ADJOURNMENT  
 
 The Planning Commission adjourned the meeting at 9:50 pm. 
 

https://novato.org/


 
Page | 9  Phone No. (415) 899-8900 
 novato.org Fax No. (415) 899-8213 

 

I HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing minutes were duly adopted at the Planning 
Commission meeting of November 1, 2021. 
 
/Shelley Woods/ 
__________________________________ 
Shelley Woods, Senior Office Assistant 

https://novato.org/

